IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

| PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, |) |
|------------------------------------|----------------------------|
| | |
| Plaintiff and Respondent, |) No. S188204 |
| v. | SUPREME COURT FILED |
| ANTHONY ARANDA, JR., |) |
| Defendant and Appellant. | AUG 1 9 2011 |
| | Frederick Κ. Ohlrich Clerk |
| | Deputy |

On Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California in and for the County of Riverside

The Honorable Albert J. Wojcik Judge Presiding

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

William J. Capriola Attorney at Law Post Office Box 1536 Sebastopol, California 95473-1536 (707) 829-9490 State Bar No. 135889

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

As specified in the Court's January 26, 2011 order granting review, the issue to be briefed and argued in this case is as follows: "Is the trial court's failure to give a standard reasonable doubt instruction (CALJIC No. 2.90) reversible per se or is such failure subject to harmless error review? If so, should harmless error be assessed under *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, or *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18?"

STATEMENT OF APPEALABILITY

This appeal is from an order which finally disposes of all issues between the parties and is authorized by Penal Code section 1237.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An amended information filed November 1, 2006, charged appellant with murder (§ 187, subd. (a)) (count 1), carrying a concealed firearm (§ 12025, subd. (b)(3)) (count 2), and active participation in a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (a)) (count 3). In connection with the murder charge, it was further alleged that appellant personally used a firearm (§ 12022.5, subd. (a)) and personally and intentionally discharged a firearm proximately causing death (§ 12022.53, subd. (d)), and that he committed the offense for the benefit of a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)). Finally, it was also alleged that appellant had served three prior prison terms (§ 667.5, subd. (b)). (2 Clerk's Transcript [CT] 327-329.)

A jury was sworn to try the cause on January 8, 2009, and evidence opened on January 12, 2009. (2 CT 453, 456-457.) On January 22, 2009, count 2 was dismissed at the request of the People. (4 CT 774; 3 Reporter's Transcript [RT] 705.)

¹ Subsequent unspecified statutory references are to the Penal Code.

Jury deliberations commenced at 1:55 p.m. on January 22, 2009. (4 CT 775, 854-855.) At 10:40 a.m. on January 26, 2009, the third day of deliberations, the jury notified the court it had reached a verdict. (4 CT 859.) The jury found appellant not guilty of murder (count 1), but convicted him of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter (§ 192, subd. (a)), and found the firearm enhancements true and the gang enhancement not true.² (4 CT 860, 873-874, 876-878.) The jury also convicted appellant of count 3. (4 CT 860, 875.) Appellant subsequently admitted the three prison priors. (2 CT 389; 4 RT 771-775.)

On February 27, 2009, the trial court sentenced appellant to a state prison term of 24 years and 8 months. (4 RT 795-796.)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on March 13, 2009. (4 CT 922.)

In a published opinion filed October 6, 2010, the Court of Appeal reversed count 3, but otherwise affirmed the judgment. (*People v. Aranda* (2010) formerly pub. at 188 Cal.App.4th 1490.)

On January 26, 2011, this Court granted appellant's petition for review.

² The trial court struck the jury's finding on the section 12022.53, subdivision (d) allegation, as it is inapplicable to the crime of voluntary manslaughter. (4 CT 860; 4 RT 763-764.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On Friday evening, September 10, 2004, appellant went to a party at Amber Bergine's house in Hemet with his friends Sean Tisdale and Leo Lopez in Tisdale's van. (1 RT 64-65; 2 RT 399-400; 3 RT 597.) Appellant was a member of the Hemet Trece street gang. (2 RT 307-308, 383, 387; 3 RT 594.) Several of the people at the party were members of the Southside Criminals (SSC) street gang. (1 RT 67-70, 154-155; 2 RT 379-383, 396, 419-420, 429, 443.) Members of SSC and Hemet Trece were known to get along with one another. (2 RT 422, 446.) Tisdale and Lopez were not gang members. (2 RT 399-400; 3 RT 600.)

The eventual victim, Luis Gonzalez (Luis), his girlfriend, Angela Gonzalez (Angela), and Angela's older brother, Adam Gonzalez (Adam), also attended the party that night. (1 RT 64-65, 153.) Adam was on parole at the time and had just gotten out of prison a month or two earlier. (1 RT 64, 148-149, 151.) Adam had been in and out of prison about five times and had a history of violent assault, including felony convictions for assault with force likely to produce great bodily injury in 1996 and 2001, and felony assault on an inmate in 2003. (1 RT 147-148; 2 RT 220.) Luis was a member of the 18th Street gang. (1 RT 60-61, 150-151; 3 RT 463-467.)

Angela and Adam testified that Luis was no longer an active gang member

at the time of the incident (1 RT 60-61, 150-151); however, Luis had gang-related tattoos, and at the party Luis made it known he was from 18th Street. (1 RT 62; 2 RT 186, 402-404.) A gang expert testified that only more committed gang members have gang tattoos and that 18th Street, and, in particular, the Columbia Little Cycos, the subgroup to which Luis belonged, was reputedly one of the most violent gangs in the nation. (3 RT 465-467.)

Luis, Angela, and Adam were drinking alcohol and smoking marijuana, as were others at the party. (1 RT 70, 116, 118, 125, 154, 156; 2 RT 244-246.) They left the party after about two or three hours. (1 RT 70-71.) Someone at the party (not appellant) had given Adam \$30 to buy methamphetamine. (1 RT 75-76, 157; 2 RT 232, 386-387, 389.) Luis and Angela refused to take Adam to purchase drugs, and instead went directly home. (1 RT 113-114, 158.)

After arriving home, Adam received a telephone call from Bergine. (1 RT 72-73, 159.) Bergine told Adam that people at the party were mad and that if he did not return the money, they would come and get it. (1 RT 159; 2 RT 236; 389, 425.) Adam could hear people in the background making threatening statements and saying they knew where he lived. (1 RT 159.) Adam was loud and "hyped up" about the call and felt he was being

disrespected. (1 RT 115, 124, 160, 162.) Luis and Angela agreed to take Adam back to the party to return the money. (1 RT 74-77,160-161; 2 RT 236, 251-252.)

When they arrived at Bergine's house, Adam went into the backyard and started yelling things like, "Why are you calling my house?" or "Who's disrespecting my house?" (1 RT 78-80, 163; 2 RT 224-225.) Adam approached appellant, whom he knew casually. (1 RT 164.) Fearing he was about to be jumped from behind, Adam pushed his way forward through appellant, grabbing appellant by the shirt as he did so. (1 RT 166; 2 RT 224-226.) Adam and appellant started fighting, and that fight precipitated a larger brawl involving others, including Luis. (1 RT 81, 166-168; 2 RT 428.)

Although he was being hit by several different people, Adam kept his attention on appellant throughout the fight. (2 RT 203.) Adam took out a utility knife equipped with a razor. (1 RT 167-168; 2 RT 202-204, 217-218, 227-229, 392, 425.) Adam was on top of appellant. (1 RT 168; 2 RT 228.) Adam was not sure if he succeeded in cutting appellant with the knife, but testified that he was probably trying to do so. (2 RT 218.)

³ About six years earlier, Adam and appellant had lived in the same apartment complex. (1 RT 164-165.)

Someone hit Adam in the head, and appellant was able to get out from underneath him and escape. (2 RT 204, 238-239.)

A few minutes later, Adam saw appellant standing out in front of the house holding a gun. (2 RT 205-206, 234-235, 239-240.) Appellant pointed the gun at Adam, but did not fire. (2 RT 205-206.) Adam and appellant exchanged words, and appellant turned and walked away. (2 RT 206, 235.)

About thirty seconds later, a single gunshot was heard. (2 RT 209, 393, 428.) Luis was found lying on his back in the street. (1 RT 90-91; 2 RT 211-212.) Angela and Adam took Luis to the hospital, where he later died. (1 RT 92-94; 2 RT 212-213.) The cause of death was internal bleeding. (2 RT 180-181.) The bullet struck Luis in the hip and perforated a vein. (2 RT 179-180.) The gun was fired from a distance of at least three feet away. (2 RT 327-328.) On the street near where Luis' shirt was found, the police collected a blood-stained rock. (2 RT 266, 272.)

After the shooting, appellant told his friend Angela Flores: "I didn't mean to do that, I wasn't expecting to do that, Lord, I didn't mean to." (2 RT 399, 405.) Appellant told another friend, Regina Nartates, something to the effect of, "I had to do it, the guy wouldn't get off of me." (2 RT 432-433.) Appellant also left messages on Nartates' voicemail making

statements like, "I didn't mean to do this, what happened, I thought it was going to be cool." (3 RT 471.)

Appellant testified and was impeached with several prior convictions, including possession of stolen property in 1993, spousal abuse in 1996 and 1998, and giving false identification to a peace officer, a misdemeanor, in 2002. (3 RT 594-595.)

According to appellant, Adam and Luis approached him during the party and asked where he was from. (3 RT 600-601.) Appellant answered he was from Hemet. (3 RT 601.) Luis said he was from 18th Street and identified himself by his gang moniker, "Joker." (3 RT 465, 601.) Adam and Luis left the party about thirty minutes later. (3 RT 601-602.) At the time, appellant was unaware of the drug deal Adam had made. (3 RT 601.)

Later that night, Adam and Luis came running up to appellant in the backyard asking who was "disrespecting their pad." (3 RT 602-603.)

Adam and Luis were jumping up and down and were "hyped up." (3 RT 603.) Adam grabbed appellant, they struggled, and Adam threw appellant to the ground. (*Ibid.*) Adam was straddled on top of appellant holding the knife. (3 RT 604-605.) Adam's attention became diverted, and appellant broke free. (3 RT 604-605.) Appellant thought "[t]hey were trying to kill" him and wanted to "get the fuck out of there." (3 RT 605.)

Appellant found his friend Lopez, and they ran to the front of the house. (3 RT 605-607.) There, appellant saw Adam arguing with a girl. (3 RT 606-607.) Adam and the girl were blocking appellant's path to Tisdale's van. (3 RT 607-608.) The girl appeared to be trying to calm Adam down. (3 RT 607.) Adam was still "hyper" and was still holding the knife. (3 RT 608, 637.) Appellant tried to move past Adam, but Adam saw him. (3 RT 608.) Adam tried to get around the girl to get to appellant. (3 RT 608, 637.) At that point, Tisdale handed appellant a gun. (3 RT 608, 612, 637.)

Adam raised the knife up at appellant. (3 RT 612, 638.) Appellant pointed the gun at Adam and told him to "Back up" and "Just get the fuck out of here, get your homeboy and get the fuck out of here." (3 RT 612.) Adam backed away. (3 RT 612, 638.) Appellant put the gun in his pocket. (3 RT 638.)

To his right, appellant saw Luis in an altercation. (3 RT 612-615.)

A group of people were yelling at Luis to "leave now" and "get the fuck out of here." (3 RT 613.) Luis ran into the group and started fighting with one of them. (3 RT 614.) After the scuffle, Luis went around some bushes and ended up in front of a neighboring house, continuing to argue with the group along the way. (3 RT 616-617.) Appellant walked toward Luis and

told him to "Get the fuck out of here." (3 RT 616-617, 643.) Luis replied, "Fuck you" and started waving a rock in this hand. (3 RT 617.) Appellant again told Luis to "just get the fuck out of here." (*Ibid.*) Luis rushed appellant with the rock. (3 RT 617, 642.) Appellant thought Luis was going to smash him in the head with the rock. (3 RT 618, 622, 634.) Appellant pulled out the gun and fired at Luis from a distance of approximately ten to twelve feet away. (3 RT 617-618.) Luis dropped the rock and fell to the ground. (3 RT 618.) After the shooting, appellant left the scene with Tisdale and Lopez. (3 RT 619.)

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO GIVE A STANDARD REASONABLE DOUBT INSTRUCTION (CALJIC NO. 2.90) WAS A STRUCTURAL DEFECT THAT REQUIRES AUTOMATIC REVERSAL.

Trial courts have a sua sponte duty to instruct the jury that the accused is presumed innocent and that the prosecution bears the burden of proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (*People v. Vann* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 220, 225-226 (*Vann*); *People v. Soldavini* (1941) 45 Cal.App.2d 460, 463-464.) Prior to the 2005 adoption of the CALCRIM instructions, that obligation was routinely discharged by delivering CALJIC No. 2.90, the omitted instruction at issue in this case.⁴ CALJIC No. 2.90 states as follows:

A defendant in a criminal action is presumed to be innocent until the contrary is proved, and in case of a reasonable doubt whether [his] [her] guilt is satisfactorily shown, [he] [she] is entitled to a verdict of not guilty. This presumption places upon the People the burden of proving [him] [her] guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

⁴ Although appellant was tried in 2009, the trial court here relied on CALJIC instructions. (See 3 RT 507-508; accord, *People v. Thomas* (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 461, 466 ["No statute, rule of court, or case mandates the use of CALCRIM instructions to the exclusion of other valid instructions."].)

Reasonable doubt is defined as follows: It is not a mere possible doubt; because everything relating to human affairs is open to some possible or imaginary doubt. It is that state of the case which, after the entire comparison and consideration of all the evidence, leaves the minds of the jurors in that condition that they cannot say they feel an abiding conviction of the truth of the charge.

Here, the trial court read the panel of prospective jurors a slightly altered version of CALJIC No. 2.90 during jury selection, but failed to give a standard reasonable doubt instruction (CALJIC No. 2.90 or an equivalent instruction) at anytime after the jury was impaneled. The instructions which the trial court did give, considered individually and as a whole, did not adequately inform the jury that the prosecution bore the burden of proving, beyond a reasonable doubt, each element of the offenses of which appellant was convicted. In addition, the given instructions failed to mention the presumption of innocence and did not define reasonable doubt for the jury.

The Court of Appeal in this case found that the trial court's failure to give a standard reasonable doubt instruction violated the federal Constitution. (*People v. Aranda, supra*, 188 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1494-1495.) The Court of Appeal further concluded that the omission of CALJIC No. 2.90 was not per se reversible error, but rather was amenable to harmless error review under the harmless-beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard articulated in *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24 [87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705] (*Chapman*). (*People v. Aranda, supra*, at p. 1495.) Under

that standard, the Court of Appeal reversed one of appellant's convictions (street terrorism) and affirmed the other (voluntary manslaughter). (*Id.* at pp. 1497-1499.)

In Vann, this Court analyzed the failure to give a standard reasonable doubt instruction (CALJIC No. 2.90) under the *Chapman* standard. (Vann. supra, 12 Cal.3d at p. 228.) However, Vann was decided nearly two decades before the United States Supreme Court's decision in Sullivan v. Louisiana (1993) 508 U.S. 275 [113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182] (Sullivan), which unanimously held that a constitutionally deficient reasonable doubt instruction cannot be harmless error. (*Id.* at p. 281.) California courts are divided on whether the failure to give a standard reasonable doubt instruction is per se reversible error (see People v. Crawford (1997) 58 Cal. App. 4th 815, 821-823 (Crawford) and People v. Phillips (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 952, 956-958 (Phillips)), or subject to harmless error review (see People v. Flores (2007) 147 Cal. App. 4th 199, 203-211 (Flores) and People v. Elguera (1992) 8 Cal. App. 4th 1214, 1220-1224 (*Elguera*)).

As appellant shall explain, *Sullivan*'s reversal per se standard applies to the omission of an instruction on the reasonable doubt standard of proof.

Moreover, because the instructions given at appellant's trial did not

otherwise properly convey the concept of reasonable doubt to the jury, the omission of CALJIC No. 2.90 requires reversal of both his convictions.

A. BACKGROUND.

1. JURY SELECTION.

Jury selection in this case occurred over the course of three days. On the second day (January 7, 2009), prior to commencing the voir dire examination, the trial court told the panel of prospective jurors that "[t]o find one guilty of a crime . . . you must be convinced of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt" as to each of the elements. (1 Augmented Reporter's Transcript [ART] 108.) The trial court also told the prospective jurors: "In my opinion, everything revolves around the jury instructions." (1 ART 107-108.) The trial court explained that "[i]n this voir dire process, I try to provide bits and pieces of many of the instructions," but noted that the actual instructions that applied to the case would not be given "until after you've heard from all the witnesses." (1 ART 108.) The trial court further explained to the prospective jurors that one of the reasons it could not give them "the instructions now" was because "[w]e don't know right now what all the instructions will be . . . So it's impossible, almost impossible to

present the instructions ahead of time. That's why they're presented to you afterwards." (1 ART 109-110.)

Throughout voir dire, on January 7 and 8, the trial court discussed and questioned prospective jurors on the presumption of innocence and the reasonable doubt standard of proof. (1 ART 123, 154, 180-185, 191-196, 214-215, 228; 2 ART 290, 302-305, 348, 352-354, 360-361.) On January 7, the trial court also gave prospective jurors an instruction that was very similar to CALJIC No. 2.90.⁵

2. Pretrial Jury Instructions.

None of the pretrial jury instructions that were given after the jury was impaneled and before the first witness was sworn mentioned the

The trial court stated: "A defendant in a criminal case is presumed innocent until the contrary is proved. If you have a reasonable doubt, a reasonable doubt – the word that we use probably more often in the law than any other word is that word, 'reasonable.' If you have a reasonable doubt whether the defendant's guilt is satisfactorily shown, he is entitled to a verdict of not guilty. [¶] Reasonable doubt is defined as follows: It is not a mere possible doubt, because everything relating to human affairs is open to some possible or imaginary doubt. It is the state of the case which, after the entire comparison and consideration of all the evidence, leaves the minds of the jurors in a condition that they cannot say they feel an abiding conviction of the truth of the charge. If you have a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt, the defendant is entitled to a verdict of not guilty." (1 ART 179-180.)

prosecution's burden of proof or the reasonable doubt standard.⁶ (See 1 RT 35-39, 54-56.)

3. PREDELIBERATION JURY INSTRUCTIONS.

On January 22, after the close of evidence and before counsels' closing arguments, the trial court delivered its final instructions to the jury. (4 CT 774, 776-853; 3 RT 667-706.) The jury was given a copy of the instructions for use in deliberating. (3 RT 667.)

Pursuant to CALJIC No. 1.00, the trial court told the jury that it would "now . . . instruct you on the law that applies to this case" and that "[y]ou must accept and follow the law as I state it to you." (4 CT 779.)

For reasons not disclosed on the record, the trial court neglected to instruct the jury, either orally or in writing, with CALJIC No. 2.90, nor did the court give a comparable instruction, like CALCRIM No. 220. Other instructions referred to reasonable doubt in specific contexts.

Instruction Relating to Circumstantial Evidence

Pursuant to CALJIC No. 2.01, the trial court instructed the jury on the use of circumstantial evidence in pertinent part:

⁶ In contrast to CALJIC, CALCRIM contains a special pretrial reasonable doubt instruction. (Compare CALJIC No. 0.50 with CALCRIM No. 103.)

[E]ach fact which is essential to complete a set of circumstances necessary to establish the defendant's guilt must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. In other words, before an inference essential to establish guilt may be found to have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, each fact or circumstance on which the inference necessarily rests must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

(4 CT 786; 3 RT 674.)

Instructions Relating to Count 1

The trial court defined first and second degree murder pursuant to CALJIC Nos. 8.10, 8.11, 8.20, and 8.30. (CT 808-811; 3 RT 682-685.) In addition, pursuant to CALJIC No. 8.71, the trial court instructed the jury:

If you are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt and unanimously agree that the crime of murder has been committed by Defendant, but you unanimously agree that you have a reasonable doubt whether the murder was of the first or second degree, you must give Defendant the benefit of that doubt and return a verdict fixing the murder as of the second degree, as well as a verdict of not guilty on murder in the first degree.

(4 CT 813; 3 RT 685.)

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