## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

## THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

ANTHONY ARANDA, JR,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S188204 SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 3 0 2011

Frederick N. Untrich Clerk

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. SWF010404
Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. D055701
The Honorable Albert J. Wojcik, Judge

#### **ANSWERING BRIEF ON MERITS**

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

direct and thus of a higher quality." (Ibid.) The People also pointed to an instruction on character evidence which told the jury that "evidence of good character may be sufficient to raise a reasonable doubt whether a defendant is guilty, which doubt otherwise would not exist' and to the trial court's instruction regarding the reasonable doubt standard of proof that it gave jury panel members during jury selection. This Court found both instructions insufficient to cure the court's instructional error. (Vann, supra, 12 Cal.3d at p. 227, fn. 6.) Vann further found the failure to instruct with the standard instruction was not cured by other pre-empanelment directions given to the jury, reasoning that other instructions told the jury that it was to follow only the pre-deliberation instructions and nothing else.<sup>9</sup> (Ibid.) It also rejected the notion that the closing arguments of defendants' counsel helped to cure the error, because "[i]n its final charge the court made it clear that the jurors were to follow the law as explained by the court, and were not to follow rules of law stated in argument but omitted from the instructions." (Id. at p. 227, fn. 6.)

In reversing the judgment, *Vann* applied the federal harmless error standard set forth in *Chapman*. However, as explained above, *Victor*, decided years after *Vann*, clarified that the failure to specifically instruct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Prior to selection of jurors, the court instructed the jury panel that it would be "incumbent . . . upon the People to prove the allegations as to each defendant, and to prove them beyond a reasonable doubt, to a moral certainty, before you would be entitled to return a guilty verdict." The court thereafter instructed that "[a]t the conclusion of the evidence in the case the court will give you instructions on the law as it relates to the evidence." The court gave final instructions 16 days later. At that time the court did not refer back to its preliminary remarks made before the selection of the jurors, and stated, "it is my duty to instruct you on the law that applies to this case, and you must follow the law as I state it to you." Toward the end of the charge the court concluded, "You have been instructed on all the rules of law that may be necessary for you to reach a verdict." (Vann, supra, 12 Cal.3d at p. 227, fn. 6.)

with CALJIC No. 2,90 itself does not amount to federal constitutional error when the jury is otherwise adequately apprised of the concept of reasonable doubt. *Vann* did not hold that federal constitutional error results when, as here, remaining instructions regarding the charged offenses cured the failure to give CALJIC No. 2.90.

In People v. Elguera, the First District Court of Appeal considered circumstances similar to those in Vann in which the trial court omitted the standard instruction on the reasonable doubt standard of proof in its final jury instructions. (People v. Elguera, supra, at pp. 1216, 1218–1220.) There, as in Vann, the trial court instructed the jury panel members during jury selection on the reasonable doubt standard of proof; gave CALJIC No. 2.01 on circumstantial evidence as part of its final jury instructions; and both counsel in closing arguments repeatedly referred to the reasonable doubt standard of proof. (People v. Elguera, supra, at p. 1217-1219, 1222.) In addition, in *Elguera*, unlike in *Vann*, a full instruction on the reasonable doubt standard of proof was given during jury selection, which occurred on the same day as the trial and jury deliberations; the prosecutor's evidence on the crucial disputed issue was entirely circumstantial; and before counsels' closing arguments the trial court reminded the jury that the prosecutor had the burden of proof. (People v. Elguera, supra, at pp. 1217, 1221.) Citing Vann, the Elguera court found the trial court erred by failing to instruct the jury sua sponte on the presumption of innocence and the reasonable doubt standard of proof during the trial rather than during jury selection; and to make the instruction available with other written instructions. Elguera then followed Vann and applied the Chapman standard of reversible error. The court concluded it was not convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the error had no effect on the verdict and reversed the judgment. (Elguera, supra, at p. 1220-1224.)

In contrast to the case at hand, in neither *Vann* nor *Elguera* did the trial court discuss the burden of proof in connection with the charged offenses. (See *Vann*, *supra*, 12 Cal.3d at pp. 225-226; *Elguera*, *supra*, 8 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1217-1219.) Here, the court discussed and instructed on that concept in connection with the charged offenses – both before and after the trial. Moreover, in *Elguera*, the "[d]efendant's exculpatory version of events was neither physically impossible nor contradicted by any direct evidence," (*Elguera*, *supra*, 8 Cal.App.4th at p. 1224), whereas, here, appellant's claim of self defense was simply not viable.

Since this Court's decision in *Vann*, and the appellate decision in *People v. Elguera*, the United States Supreme Court has clarified that the federal Constitution does not require trial courts to define reasonable doubt. Instead, taken as a whole, the instructions need only correctly convey the concept of reasonable doubt to the jury. (*Victor*, *supra*, at p. 5.) A constitutionally inadequate instruction on reasonable doubt, however, constitutes reversible error. (*Sullivan*, *supra*, at p. 278.) Moreover, the Court has explained that in reviewing claims of instructional error, a reviewing court looks at the language of the instructions themselves, and the context of the proceedings, to decide whether there was a reasonable likelihood the jury misunderstood the instructions construed as a whole. (*Boyde v. California, supra*, 494 U.S. at pp. 383-386.) Since *Vann*, California has adopted this standard. (*People v. Kelly, supra*, 1 Cal.4th at p. 525.) The context of the proceedings includes the discussion of reasonable doubt that occurred during voir dire.

Subsequent to *Sullivan* and *Victor*, the Fourth District Court of Appeal has rejected the claim that the omission of CALJIC 2.90 requires reversal *per se*, noting the nation's high court had clarified since *Vann* that due process does not require specific definitions of reasonable doubt or the presumption of innocence. (*People v. Flores* (2007) 147 Cal.App.4th 199.

208, 210-211.) In reversing the convictions, *Flores* distinguished itself from *Mayo*, noting that in *Mayo* the trial court's instructions on elements of the charged offense and lesser offenses expressly instructed the jury on the standard of reasonable doubt. (*People v. Flores, supra,* 147 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 218.) In contrast, in *Flores,* the instructions on the elements of the charged offenses omitted any reference to the applicable burden of proof. (*Id.* at p. 219.) *Flores* concluded that it was bound to apply the federal harmless error analysis because:

[A]t least in a case where the jurors have been told the prosecution must prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt and there has not been an erroneous definition of that burden of proof, the harmless-error standard applied by our Supreme Court in *Vann, supra*, 12 Cal.3d 220 remains the controlling law. We are satisfied that there has not been an intervening authority from the United States Supreme Court which undermines that precedent [citation]. Accordingly, we are bound to follow the decision of our Supreme Court. (*Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455.)

(People v. Flores, supra, 147 Cal.App.4th at p. 211.)

In contrast, the First District Court of Appeal in *People v. Crawford* (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 815, citing *Sullivan*, concluded the trial court's error in not instructing with the general instruction on the prosecution's burden of proving the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt was federal constitutional error, and reversible per se. (*People v. Crawford, supra*, 58 Cal.App.4th at pp. 817, 821–823.) The court in *Crawford* rejected the argument that the trial court's instruction on reasonable doubt during jury selection, and the giving of CALJIC No. 2.01, rendered the court's error subject to *Chapman's* harmless error analysis. (*People v. Crawford, supra*, 58 Cal.App.4th at p. 820, 823-825.)

In *People v. Phillips*, the Second District Court of Appeal, also citing *Sullivan*, concluded the trial court's error in not instructing the jury with the standard instruction on the prosecution's burden of proving the defendant's

guilt beyond a reasonable doubt was structural error as well. (*People v. Phillips* (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 952, 956-958.) The court rejected the People's argument that other instructions relating to reasonable doubt, preempanelment instructions, and argument from counsel rendered the court's error harmless. According to the court, "the trial court's error suffered no less a constitutional defect than did the trial court in *Sullivan*." (*People v. Phillips, supra*, at pp. 957–958.) Notably, in *Phillips*, the parties argued over the proper definition of reasonable doubt such that "the jurors were bound to be confused as to the exact meaning the phrase." (*People v. Phillips, supra*, 59 Cal.App.4th at p. 958.) The parties here engaged in no such dispute; they did not specifically discuss the definition of reasonable doubt in their arguments. (See 3 RT 710-745.)

Neither *Phillips* nor *Crawford* mentioned or considered the United States Supreme Court opinion in *Victor*. And, as *Flores* noted, neither did either opinion consider or even mention the decision in *Kentucky v. Whorton, supra*, 441 U.S. at p. 789, where the United States Supreme Court clarified that an omission of an instruction on the presumption of innocence is not inherently prejudicial and must instead be evaluated under the "totality of the circumstances" to determine whether the defendant received a fair trial. (*Flores, supra*, 147 Cal.App.4th at p. 210-211; see *Whorton, supra*, 441 U.S. at p. 789.) Accordingly, the opinions omit an analysis of the seminal cases on the issue, and therefore neither opinion is persuasive in resolving the case at hand.

As a matter of precedent, lower courts have been obligated to follow *Vann* in finding federal constitutional error and applying the *Chapman* standard in the omission of CALJIC No. 2.90. (See *People v. Elguera* (1992) 8 Cal.App.4th 1214, 1220; *People v. Flores* (2007) 147 Cal.App.4th 199, 211.) However, as explained, the United States Supreme Court has clarified since *Vann* that where, taken as a whole, the instructions correctly

convey the concept of reasonable doubt to the jury, there is no federal constitutional violation. (*See Victor, supra*, p. 5.) Thus, here, there was no federal error in instructing the jury with regard to appellant's manslaughter conviction. Respondent has not found any cases decided by this Court in which a violation of state law only has been deemed structural error and, thus, reversible per se. It would, therefore, be anomalous if this Court were to hold that the omission of CALJIC No. 2.90 here was structural error.

## D. Omission of CALJIC No. 2.90 from the Final Instructional Charge Did Not Violate Appellant's Federal Constitutional Rights, Thus the Error Should be Evaluated Under the Standard Set Forth in Watson

If a trial court's instructional error violates the United States

Constitution, the reviewing court assesses the error under the standard stated in *Chapman v. California*. (*People v. Mower* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 457, 484.) This requires the People, "in order to avoid reversal of the judgment, to "prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error . . . did not contribute to the verdict obtained."" (*Ibid.*) However, if a trial court's instructional error violates only California law, a reviewing court assesses the error under the standard set forth in *People v. Watson*. (*Ibid.*) This allows the People to avoid reversal unless "it is reasonably probable that a result more favorable to the appealing party would have been reached in the absence of the error." (*Ibid.*)

As noted above, California law requires the trial court to instruct the jury, sua sponte, with CALJIC No. 2.90. (*Vann, supra,* 12 Cal.3d at pp. 225-226, 227.) The trial court did not do so here. While such omission was not a federal constitutional error, it did amount to an error of state law. However, because appellant would not have received a more favorable result had the jury been instructed with CALJIC No. 2.90, the error was harmless.

First and foremost, the above analysis demonstrates that the jury was fully apprised of proof beyond a reasonable doubt and the presumption of innocence: namely, that appellant was presumed innocent, and must be acquitted, of all charges and allegations unless the prosecution carried its burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt each and every element of those charges and allegations. Repeating CALJIC No. 2.90's discussion of the burden and presumption under these circumstances was not necessary to ensure the jurors appreciated the meaning and impact of these principles. This is particularly true when, as already noted, the nation's high court has made clear that the jury need not be instructed on these principles with any particular formulation or set of words. (Victor, supra, 511 U.S. at p. 5; Taylor, supra, 436 U.S. at p. 485.) It is enough that the court's instructions as a whole correctly informed the jury of the burden of proof and presumption of innocence. (Victor, at p. 5; Taylor, at p. 485; Whorton, supra, 436 U.S. at p. 789; People v. Hawthorne, supra, 4 Cal.4th at p. 72.) And they did.

The definition of reasonable doubt is all that was missing from the charge. However, there is no indication that the jury was at all confused about the meaning or application of burden of proof. That is, "the jury did not request a further explanation of the reasonable doubt standard, as it surely would have done had it been confused as to the meaning of reasonable doubt." (*People v. Chatman* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 344, 408 [where the Supreme Court cited lack of confusion in finding that the trial court's failure to repeat the definition of reasonable doubt at the penalty phase was harmless].) Moreover, the verdicts demonstrate that the jury understood and followed the instructions, as evidenced by the fact that the jury acquitted appellant of murder and the substantive gang allegations, both charges in which the court specifically instructed the jury regarding proof beyond a reasonable doubt. It is not reasonably probable that appellant

would have received a more favorable verdict had the jury been given the definition of reasonable doubt.

This is especially so given that "[e]xperience has shown that attempts to define reasonable doubt add little in the way of clarity and often add much in the way of confusion and controversy." (*United States v. Taylor* (D.C. Cir. 1993) 997 F.2d 1551, 1558.) "[P]roof beyond a reasonable doubt" is part of a class of terms about which "a jury which did not understand them would not understand an explanation of them." (*People v. Brigham, supra,* 25 Cal. 3d at p. 314, (Mosk, J., concurring, citing *People v. Halbert* (1926) 78 Cal.App.598, 612.)

Further, the evidence strongly supports the jury's verdict of voluntary manslaughter. Appellant's self-defense claim was not credible. During the police interview, appellant did not mention anything about having acted in self defense. (2 RT 354.) Instead, appellant denied having been at the party and claimed the witnesses who placed him there were lying. (2 RT 355; see 4 CT 702-732.) In addition, appellant asked his girlfriend to lie for him and to tell police that he was with her that night, not at the party. (2 RT 304.)

Furthermore, appellant showed up at the party with a gun. (2 RT 400.) Appellant displayed the gun in a threatening manner to at least one other person before killing Louis. (2 RT 205-206; 3 RT 617-618.) Then, after shooting Luis, appellant left the scene, and two days later, he buried the gun in some bushes. (3 RT 619-621.)

The mere of exercise of reiterating the burden of proof and presumption of innocence under CALJIC Number 2.90 before deliberations began would not have affected the jury's conclusion – particularly when the court's other instructions had already fully apprised the jury of these principles. For all the reasons outlined above, omission of CALJIC No. 2.90 was harmless because it is not reasonably probable that a result more

favorable to appellant would have been reached in absence of the error. (*Watson, supra,* 46 Cal.2d at p. 836.)

## CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, respondent respectfully requests this Court affirm the Court of Appeal's decision.